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HEARING COMMENCED [9.16am] 
 
 

PN4743 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Good morning.  Mr FitzGerald, I think you were mid 
flight? 
 

PN4744 
MR FITZGERALD:   Yes, I think that is right, Commissioner.  I think there was - 
just Mr Flanagan wanted just to put a couple of issues on transcript or are you 
happy now. 
 

PN4745 
MR FLANAGAN:   There is just one matter, Commissioner.  The recent exhibit 
that I need to talk to in the context of the industrial ground.  We may need a five 
minute adjournment if we can to have copies taken of the document - I don't have 
- - -  
 

PN4746 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, it would be - - -  
 

PN4747 
MR FLANAGAN:   That would be the end of the proceedings. 
 

PN4748 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I would be proposing to have a break during the 
morning some time. 
 

PN4749 
MR FLANAGAN:   I should indicate, Commissioner, that from our perspective 
we don't expect this matter to go beyond lunch time.  The AWU has done written 
submissions in relation to the award matter.  There is only a small aspect that 
needs to be addressed in the context of the award which we presume will take 
about five to 10 minutes and I think no more than 10 minutes in relation to the 
enterprise agreement.  So it should be a fairly smooth sail this morning. 
 

PN4750 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, all right, thank you. 
 

PN4751 
MR FITZGERALD:   Thank you, Commissioner, that is - I thank the AWU for 
that.  I think it is sort of going to expedite proceedings and I certainly don't want 
to delay them but there are a number of transcript references which I will need to 
take you to and I will do that during the course of the morning but I certainly 
won't dwell on those.  Just before we do proceed, on the last occasion or it might 
have been the day prior, I did identify some areas of transcript which were 
wrongly attributed to myself and I understand Ms Rolfe has actually identified 
others. 
 

PN4752 
We can't actually identify them in the Commission today but I just - I think as a 
note of caution there are a number of errors of transcript which are designated to 
the wrong person.  So I just think we just need to be cautious of that for the future 



and just make that for the purpose of the record.  Commissioner, where I was last 
time last week was I was putting the case to you that we believe there is an 
overwhelming case.  If in fact the CFMEU application is allowed to proceed, and 
that is what we are debating, we believe it will cause total confusion. 
 

PN4753 
There is fertile ground for re-igniting demarcation disputes which were a feature 
of the '80s and '90s, early '90s.  It ignores the demarcation order of - the section 
118A order of 1992 and 1994, which even though it certainly doesn't cover Henty 
because Henty doesn't exist but the intention now of the award is to effectively 
demark the industry in favour of the AWU as against the CFMEU.  It would 
ignore the history of the industry, both in Tasmania and nationally.  We say that 
clearly there is a resounding vote in favour of the AWU at the Henty site in terms 
of numbers of members. 
 

PN4754 
We say that it has been opportunistic of the CFMEU to use these circumstances to 
progress not only an award application against Henty but also potentially against 
the rest of the industry in Tasmania which we believe will have deleterious 
hidden implications.  I will address both matters of Mr Bukarica together.  We 
believe we have made out a case why the AWU Henty agreement should be 
approved.  The agreement has been properly made in accordance with section 55.  
The only requirement and interlinking provision there is to section 36 and the 
wage fixing principles. 
 

PN4755 
We are of the view and we believe that we have proved that overwhelmingly that 
the agreement complies with section 55 and the wage fixing principles and 
section 36.  The CFMEU in their submissions, in my view, have not put any 
submissions as to why it should not be approved.  In my submission the 
discretion of the Commission is limited to the public interest provisions and the 
only competing consideration is that the CFMEU have had a handful of members 
and it is only a handful of members who conceivably have voted against the 
agreement but the vast majority of employees at the mine site voted in favour of 
it. 
 

PN4756 
So what we say is that just because there is a number of employees who voted 
against it doesn't mean to say that it is not in the - that in the public interest it 
shouldn't be approved simply because a number voted against it.  If that is the 
case that can be conceivably the case with any agreement.  The structure of the 
legislation is such that - and there is no need for proof of a ballot, that clearly the 
AWU will take into evidence where there was a ballot conducted by the AWU.  
But the structure of the legislation is that with a registered organisation such as 
the AWU they have the right to put forward an agreement on behalf of the 
members without even the need to put any proof as to whether that was approved 
by the majority. 
 

PN4757 
So we say that the Commission's discretion is limited to that aspect alone and if it 
simply because a handful of members of the CFMEU don't agree then that is not 
enough to turn it over.  We say that what effectively has happened is a 



continuation of the current underpinning industrial arrangements of EBA at 
Henty, albeit in a different format and we have had three with a current section 61 
agreement in place and that has now been converted to a section 55 agreement.  
That is not unusual.  There is precedent for that in this state with Barminco where 
that has occurred, where AWA arrangements have been converted into section 55 
agreement which is now registered with the Commission. 
 

PN4758 
There is precedent within the state - within the Federal jurisdiction at the 
Beaconsfield Gold Mine where AWAs, although not yet complete but the intent 
of the proceedings there is that there will be AWAs in some cases converted into 
a section 170LJ agreement with the AWU being party to it and the two other 
trades unions as well conceivably - and those agreements that provide a solid base 
for the common law conditions and reference to policies, etcetera, which have 
underpinned it.  So we really haven't got much, it is really a change of format 
only but the same industrial arrangements continue to exist, albeit in the form of a 
union agreement as opposed to a non-union agreement. 
 

PN4759 
There is a high degree of consultation shown by the AWU and clearly Mr 
Flanagan will address that.  We doubt, quite frankly doubt, the degree of 
consultation by the CFMEU.  Mr Hinds in his statement indicates that he talked 
to his members on 18, 19 and 20 May - on the 20th, 24th, about the common law 
arrangements but not about the award and on 24 May he consulted with the lodge 
president but what is clearly lacking in Mr Hinds evidence, both in statement and 
his evidence to the Commission, is at no time does it appear that he actually 
consulted fully with his members regarding the application for the award which 
was made by the CFMEU and that can be contrasted quite clearly with the AWU 
approach which there was a high degree of consultation with the total 
membership and that included CFMEU members conceivably. 
 

PN4760 
The other issue is in terms of, if you like, consistency with the rest of the industry.  
All other sites, mining sites, within the industry here in Tasmania all have an 
underpinning, whether it be State or Federal.  If in fact you were inclined to make 
- to allow the making of the CFMEU Award, if I can call it that, then you know 
that looks very much at odds with the rest of the industry and I would suggest it 
certainly would see quite a different scenario appearing and I will address that 
now.  So in summary in terms of the agreement, given that it is a properly 
completed agreement, in terms of the time preference it is - I know these matters 
are being heard together but what we say is that given that there is agreement 
properly put before the Commission, then that is the agreement which should 
prevail over any potential award created by the CFMEU for a limited and discrete 
section of the site only. 
 

PN4761 
In terms of the award - and I am sure you would be well aware, Commissioner, 
dealing with this yourself and no doubt with some degree of frustration that I 
suppose all the parties have experienced in processing the award, my preference 
would have been that it would have been done by my former colleagues but it still 
- it continues to progress.  I can report, Commissioner, that we have as you know 



the structure of the industry award.  We have discussed the time, we have the 
parties and that doesn't include the CFMEU and they have taken steps to exclude 
themselves from that process. 
 

PN4762 
What we would have then if we have that industry award made is total confusion 
because we have that - and that award will be made.  I can report as recently as 
this week our association had discussions with our members to respond to a 
position put by the union - I think it was on 27 July and it seems on the face of it 
that we have agreement, particularly on the difficult issue of rates of pay and 
classification structures and that is a significant step forward.  So the other 
matters we believe are generally incidental and will be able to fall into place. 
 

PN4763 
So we will be coming before the Commission I am pleased to say - and I know 
you declared 2003 the year of the Mining and Metalliferous Award.  Maybe you 
might just have to put your predictions back and make it 2004 but I am now 
confident that we have - we have now endorsement from our membership and it 
is now just a matter of putting that to the AWU and the two other unions 
concerned.  I will just note for the record that the meeting on 27 July, that was 
attended by the AWU, our own organisations, the AMWU and the CEPU but 
again the CFMEU were not involved in that - those award - that award meeting. 
 

PN4764 
So what we will have is if we - once the industry award is made we will have that 
applying to the rest of the industry, apart from Rosebery and I will talk about that 
briefly, and yet we will have sitting out there like a wart the CFMEU Henty 
Award which on the face of it conceivably will apply only to mill employees and, 
as we know, that is to a limited number of mill employees.  We concede that the 
award has been delayed and we believe that - we are not trying to make excuses, 
there is a good reason for that.  Up until the President Leary decision on 
interpretation of the Rosebery Award there were always doubts about the 
Rosebery Award. 
 

PN4765 
The unions always took the position that that should be the award which should - 
we should progress from.  AMMA took the position that that is not.  We have 
always taken the award that it should be a true safety net award with minimus 
rates and conditions to allow for proper enterprise bargaining.  So there have been 
competing positions there and that has delayed matters.  Now, I think we have 
now, you know, over time progressed that position and those differences have 
been resolved.  There have been competing priorities between the parties and 
there is no doubt that particularly in the last couple of years when we - well, we 
all best intentioned to actually complete the award, that wasn't completed because 
of other competing priorities including matters like this which do take a lot of 
time and have taken our focus as well as the unions focus away from those award 
discussions. 
 

PN4766 
The - and I will take you to the evidence later but there is some suggestion that 
the authorisation by Mr Benson to withdraw from that award wasn't properly 
authorised.  He was joint secretary, or is joint secretary, of the union and signs off 



in that capacity so there is no way either Mr Hinds or Mr McLean can hide 
behind that and say, well you know, we wasn't consulted or Mr Hinds had a 
different view.  The fact is they are on record to say that they have withdrawn 
from the industry award.  Now, as I said, we believe that we have around about 
90 per cent or more agreement on the award matter and we look forward to 
coming before the Commission to put that to you as a consent matter.  Now, that 
is contrasted - - -  
 

PN4767 
MR FLANAGAN:   We don't mind that if that is the case, Commissioner. 
 

PN4768 
MR FITZGERALD:   That is contrasted to the issue of the CFMEU application 
which in my research and my understanding was when the issue of enterprise 
awards was introduced into the legislation I am sure you would be well aware, 
Commissioner, being a long term - long term practitioner, that there are no - to 
my - to the best of my knowledge and belief there has been no arbitrated 
enterprise awards.  They have all been done on a consent basis and that is I think 
just by - it is a matter of record and all - all after considerable consultation with 
employees.  I put to the Commission that there has been little evidence that Mr 
Hinds has properly consulted with members prior to lodging the application.  It 
was simply a means to an end, there is no question about that. 
 

PN4769 
There is no, obviously no consultation about mining rates because those matters 
are reserved so we can say at this point - and we can only surmise that it is not the 
- that it is the intention of the CFMEU not to proceed in respect of the mining 
rates and just the mill rates.  So I can say also that in respect to all other enterprise 
awards, except the Rosebery Award and I know there is some history associated 
with that but that came out of the old industry system, the old Wages Board 
system which then related to the Mining and Lead Zinc Award which was in fact 
an industry award but it appears I think historically that Rosebery was the only 
ones in fact not subject to Federal regulation and effectively what happened is 
that that award was converted into an enterprise award and that is what has been - 
the mirror decision actually confirms that. 
 

PN4770 
But all others where there are enterprise awards existing and I am sure you have 
knowledge of these, Commissioner.  The Temco Award, the Australian Cement, 
Pasminco Hobart and - these companies are now changed of course in terms of 
names and it is now Zinifex - and most recently the Impact Fertilisers Award.  All 
those companies are - they are - are the only companies in my submission 
involved in that particular industry.  So by way of example Impact Fertilisers is 
the only manufacturer in my submission of fertilisers of that type and therefore it 
was appropriate to make an enterprise award rather than industry award.  The 
same with Australian Cement and the same with Ferro Alloys in respect to 
Temco. 
 

PN4771 
So that stands in stark contrast to the CFMEU application where we are going to 
have a bit of both if the CFMEU application is successful, where we are going to 
the CFMEU Award applying to a limited number of employees but at the same 



time the others are going to be covered by an underpinning true industry award.  
Now, that is a recipe for interpretative difficulties, demarcations and total 
confusion so that is why we say clearly, Commissioner, the preference should be 
given to the making of the section 55 AWU Henty Agreement. 
 

PN4772 
The other issue which I should say about enterprise awards is they apply - all 
those awards which I have mentioned apply to the total operational workforce.  
Now, concedingly the section 33(1)(b) does refer to some or all employees.  Now, 
what I would say is the intent of that section is that it should apply to a distinct - 
meaning some should apply to a distinct occupational group.  Now, in the case of 
Henty and every other mine which is an integrated operation, mining and milling 
operation, there is the potential and the actual transference of staff between 
operations from time to time. 
 

PN4773 
There is not a distinct occupational group as such and we would say that that 
would create difficulties if in fact the CFMEU application were granted.  So there 
is no awards - there is no precedent for an award to be made of this nature and for 
good reason.  It would be an absolute nonsense in my view for that to occur 
because we would just have total confusion if that were to be the case. 
 

PN4774 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr FitzGerald, just remind me, was there any 
evidence presented in relation to this point you make about the interchange 
between the mill operations and the mine? 
 

PN4775 
MR FITZGERALD:   I can't recall whether there was or not.  I think Mr Flanagan 
might have - - -  
 

PN4776 
MR FLANAGAN:   If I can assist the Commission, there was evidence given that 
the mine work force commences work at 5 o'clock and the mill work force 
commences work at 6 o'clock, so that suggests that interaction is limited. 
 

PN4777 
MR FITZGERALD:   So we really have the potential scenario that, you know, 
that if there is that interchange happening we have mill employees moving to the 
mine, they move from the CFMEU Award if that is what - how the Commission 
feels inclined to grant an award, back to the industry award or to the AWU 
agreement.  There really - there is going to be confusion, you know, total 
confusion if that scenario is allowed to occur.  In terms of the potential 
demarcation, up until recently we don't seem to have any issues in the mill but it 
is our submission, Commissioner, that - and I concede that there is no evidence in 
respect of this but not only have we the fertile ground for demarcation disputes 
within the mill, because we have got - and I understand the - and Mr - I 
understand Mr Flanagan will give some evidence but the membership numbers 
are - the current count, if I can call it that, is I think 11 CFMEU members and 9 
AWU members. 
 



PN4778 
That in itself I think creates a difficulty in itself but certainly it is our view that 
there has been a selective approach by the CFMEU as to which parts of the mill 
they choose to approach for membership.  They certainly have asked others and 
not other sections of members, the employees engaged at the mill.  We are aware 
that some non-unionists have recently joined the AWU.  I suppose they were up 
for grabs, if I can put it that way - you know, they were fair game between the 
competing unions and clearly there is a competition there, which is unhealthy in 
my submission. 
 

PN4779 
We have evidence, although not presented to the Commission, that the CFMEU 
members are in fact fishing for information with the AWU members which in our 
view is counter productive.  It takes the focus off the job, it takes off all those - 
takes the focus off all those critical aspects such as OH and S, which should be 
the focus and the diversion is there to talk about political union issues, more so 
than work issues.  We have had an indication that CFMEU members have 
indicated that they will take strike action to resolve pay issues in front of the 
AWU members.  Now, that is even before we have determined this threshold 
issue and the issue of the AWU agreement.  So it doesn't go well at this point if 
that is already occurring.  We have - - -  
 

PN4780 
MR HINDS:   Point of order, Mr Commissioner, there is no evidence that it is 
- - -  
 

PN4781 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Fitzgerald has conceded that there is no evidence 
and, you know, accordingly it will be - an appropriate weighting will be applied 
to that.  I will allow him to continue but it is an assertion from the bar table 
unsupported by evidence. 
 

PN4782 
MR FITZGERALD:   It is and I concede that, Commissioner, there is no question 
about that.  We certainly looked at this issue very carefully and certainly the 
evidence - certainly these events have developed since these proceedings have 
been in course or under way.  We have if you like the make-up of the crews 
where we have totally - predominantly - CFMEU crews and AWU crews and a 
mixture, and there is a cross-over of those crews at hand-over time.  You know, 
the observation is that between those crews the atmosphere varies from no eye 
contact to extreme politeness between the crews.  So again there is an underlying 
tension there which is counterproductive.  And at the point of changeover crews 
that is a critical issue for the company in terms of briefing of what went on in the 
previous shift.  OH and S issues particularly in the briefing are associated with 
those. 
 

PN4783 
And if there is that underlying tension - which we assert there is - already 
occurred - that is in fact only going to grow.  It won't simply just be allowed to 
simmer down.  So we say that not only in terms of the legal mechanisms does it 
present a fertile ground for demarcation and similar issues, but we also say that 
that is already happening at the site level within the mill particularly.  We are 



aware that the AWU members have indicated to the CFMEU members that they 
wouldn't stick up for them if there was an issue.  And they are saying that you 
didn't ask us to join. 
 

PN4784 
So there are real issues - competitive issues - between the unions at the site level.  
So what we have, Commissioner, is - if you like - an opportunistic - and I think 
that is the only way to describe it - where the company has for its own reasons 
chosen to proceed with common law contracts.  The CFMEU have exploited that 
and clearly the evidence is that the CFMEU activity at the site has been pretty 
much inactive for the last couple of years.  It is only recently that it has become 
active, and I will address that later on. 
 

PN4785 
But now we see that against the trends - against the history - the CFMEU are now 
saying that they want their share of the action at a particular site when the 
evidence is clearly against them, not only in this State where they haven't 
participated in any sense.  In fact, they have taken steps to divorce themselves 
from the process by withdrawing from the industry award.  It is arguable from the 
evidence that the CFMEU have complied with the section 118A order.  There is 
some conflict to the evidence which I will take you to later - with Mr Hinds' 
evidence at Beaconsfield Gold and I will take you to that in more detail later. 
 

PN4786 
But certainly there is some evidence that generally they have complied.  In terms 
of the CFMEUs membership and its involvement, I think it can be simply put as 
this, and it is certainly conceded in evidence, in my view.  In respect of their 
membership at Australian Bulk Minerals at Savage River, we have seen evidence 
from Mr Lowe - uncontested evidence - that that was a political deal.  No more 
than that.  And that the membership was allowed to continue despite the 118A 
whilst the site basically came to the end of its natural life at that point.  So really 
you can discount that.  At Broken Hill, we have heard some evidence - and Mr 
Hinds didn't have too much knowledge, which in itself I think is astounding, but I 
will come to that later. 
 

PN4787 
And Mr Knott addressed that.  Simply that was historical.  And it was - and their 
membership was as a result of registration under the New South Wales industrial 
system.  At Beaconsfield Gold after a lot of tooth pulling - if I can put it like that - 
Mr Hinds eventually concedes that they are not genuine members - not financial 
members.  So you can discount that as well.  At Temco, we have heard evidence 
from everyone I think that it is not a mine, but it is used conveniently by the 
CFMEU to inflate their members in the mining sector when it clearly isn't a mine. 
 

PN4788 
The Zinifex Hobart smelter site where they have members also represented by 
another division of the CFMEU is in the same boat.  Again, that can't be used.  At 
Henty - the case in point - up until recently - for the last two years - a small 
number of members which has gradually built to 11 or so, but effectively inactive.  
No issues at all whatsoever brought to the notice of the company.  In respect of 
ABM again, the membership currently there is - which we have heard some 
evidence from Mr Hinds that there are members there.  But again inactive.  What 



I would say is a residual membership from either employees transferring across 
from - their membership across from other sites or they have just simply held it 
on through loyalty to the CFMEU. 
 

PN4789 
Then we can see that - and Mr Hinds' knowledge of the Act - the Federal Act is I 
think deficient to the extent that the unions really have no representational rights, 
particularly in respect to rights of entry in the Federal system if there is no 
underpinning award.  And in the case of Australian Bulk Minerals, in the case of 
Beaconsfield Gold, that is the case.  The CFMEU may hold some membership 
there but it is totally ineffective and they can do nothing there to progress their 
cause against the current regulations - the current industrial regulation, which 
applies at those two sites. 
 

PN4790 
So we have, Commissioner, an absolute recipe for disaster if the Commission feel 
inclined to proceed that way.  In terms of - and I will quickly go to the evidence 
now and hopefully I won't be too long, but I will move to take you to a couple of 
references - or a number of references.  The evidence of the - on behalf of the 
company Henty - Mr Daly and Mr Knott - and I also include here the AWU 
witnesses - I think was decisive, spontaneous.  There was - despite Mr Bukarica's 
skill in cross-examination, which is undoubted - he did not break down one 
witness on any particular point, and it withstood the test of cross-examination.  
 

PN4791 
And we say that those witnesses - both the company's witnesses and the AWU 
witnesses - the evidence there should be preferred against the evidence of - and I 
just - sorry - I make one aspect about Mr Daly's - one point about Mr Daly's 
evidence is that he did say in evidence that - on cross-examination from Mr 
Bukarica - that, you know, he would accept the Commission's decision coming 
out of that - and we are not foreshadowing it - but clearly that acceptance is 
subject to the rights of appeal which exist statutorily within the Act.  I just wanted 
to make that point clear. 
 

PN4792 
Of course the company will comply with it but that is subject of course to the 
Commission's full processes.  And I just want to make that point clear.  I am sure 
you would be aware of that Commissioner.  But the evidence compared to the 
CFMEU witnesses is chalk and cheese.  All witnesses - particularly under cross-
examination - were hesitant.  They were not unequivocal in their position.  They 
were changing their position from day to day, particularly Mr Hinds after 
cross-examination.  It is clear that Mr Hinds collaborated whilst under oath with 
the two other witnesses and or Mr Bukarica or all three.  I am not sure. 
 

PN4793 
I withdrew the allegation in respect to coaching, but Mr Hinds was clearly 
observed by those representatives of Henty who were present in the Court seeking 
eye contact with Mr Bukarica and reassurance during cross-examination and I 
will leave it at that, but I will certainly withdraw my allegation in respect to 
coaching by Mr Bukarica.  But certainly there was a seeking by Mr Hinds of 
some reassurance in cross-examination. I am not sure whether the Commissioner 



observed that or not.  But certainly - and I didn't, I would have to admit - but it 
has been reported to me by those present that that occurred. 
 

PN4794 
And what I say about the evidence of Mr Hinds is that what it effectively does is, 
is if you accept any of the evidence of Mr McLean, the evidence of Mr McLean is 
tainted by this aspect, that clearly there is that collaboration between the two.  In 
respect - and I will now go to the three witnesses - the three CFMEU witnesses 
that - and the other issue is that there was very little raised by Mr Bukarica in 
terms of cross-examination.  Despite his best efforts, there was just simply no 
breaking down of the witnesses presented by the company and the AWU. 
 

PN4795 
Mr Best's evidence really added nothing in our submission.  He acknowledges - 
and I am not going to take you through - I don't ask you to go to the transcript 
because it will delay it - but I will just refer to the particular points where I 
believe we can show that there has been inconsistency and lack of knowledge.  
And that is the other outstanding aspect about it is, is that Mr Hinds is the 
Secretary of the Mining Division of the union in Tasmania.  He shows little or no 
knowledge - and I am not having a crack at Mr Hinds personally - but I think 
what I am saying is that it indicates - it is indicative of the lack of involvement he 
personally has and his union has had within the industry in Tasmania since he has 
been in the role. 
 

PN4796 
But he shows little or no knowledge of industrial processes, legal rights - legal 
rights of entry - of the history in respect to the industry nationally, and we find 
that quite astounding that that is the case.  Just going back to Mr Best's evidence, 
at points 91 and 92 - and as I said I don't want you to dwell on this, I just simply 
put it for the record - there is acknowledgment by Mr Best that the FEDFA have 
abandoned the field - if I can call it that.  There is acknowledgment that there has 
been disruption by the FEDFA in the past. 
 

PN4797 
At point 124, that was very much a vague response, but he acknowledges the 
CFMEU were restructured out.  At point 164, he gave some explanation about 
withdrawing from the Rosebery award.  And then couldn't explain why Mr 
Caldwell at that time had taken action to do that.  Hinted at some indication that 
Mr Caldwell didn't have the authority, but clearly there is clear evidence before 
the Commission that they have withdrawn from the Rosebery award.  Despite the 
fact which Mr Best indicates that there were still members there, but effectively 
they had no role. 
 

PN4798 
Again, at point 175, Mr Best attempted to extricate himself from the cross-
examination which I was putting to.  At point 178, there is an over-exaggeration 
by Mr Best about employees threatening to - if I can just go to that again.  Sorry.  
Apologies here.  Yes, he says that it makes people panic and there was fear that 
they may have lost their job.  Clearly, that is an over-exaggeration.  At point 183, 
Mr Caldwell's explanation again lacking total credibility.  The true response there, 
in my view, is that the CFMEU had abandoned the mining industry. 
 



PN4799 
At point 186, again - and this is again this issue about Mr Caldwell withdrawing 
interest from the Rosebery award.  Mr Best's evidence again lacks total 
credibility.  At point 193, he clearly indicates that he continued to operate plant 
operators but they had - he also acknowledges that the union - that his union had 
withdrawn from the Rosebery award.  So on the one hand he says he still 
continues to represent these employees but on the other hand, he acknowledges 
that the union had effectively withdrawn their registered interest in the award. 
 

PN4800 
At point 215 - and this is where - this is something which we should bear in mind 
- Mr Best acknowledges the Moore demarcation decision - if I can call it that - 
but still acknowledges that he secretly took on members.  Now, how can he do 
that?  The rules of the union have been amended as a consequence of the Moore 
decision to make it ineligible for them to - the CFMEU, the FEDFA - to continue 
to sign on members at those particular sites, but yet Mr Best says that he 
continued to do that. 
 

PN4801 
And it was all in the name of if they approach us, then it is okay for us to sign.  
Yet his rules says that they were ineligible.  So if that is what has happened in the 
past, there is, in our submission, every indication that that will continue, and it has 
already continued.  At Beaconsfield, his legal advice - Mr Hinds' legal advice - 
was to leave the site alone, yet he has continued to enrol employees there.  So 
which is it?  Mr Best's evidence at 217 and 219 is at best shaky and unreliable.  
And again, I think it shows that the CFMEU are not prepared to abide by the 
Commission orders, which were made to create some industrial harmony in the 
industry.  And finally - and as I said - I found Mr Best a very frustrating witness 
to cross-examine.  Not just because of his lack of knowledge but really his 
inability to be able to get to the point quickly. 
 

PN4802 
And at point 274, he finally concedes that withdrawing from the Rosebery award 
was in fact linked to the Moore demarcation decision.  Yet at point 303, he seems 
to turn that round again and I simply say that the credibility and reliability of 
Mr Best's evidence - despite his position as a Member of Parliament - in my view 
is quite clear. 
 

PN4803 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Sorry, Mr FitzGerald, 274 as I read it is denying a 
link. 
 

PN4804 
MR FITZGERALD:   Is what, sorry? 
 

PN4805 
THE COMMISSIONER:   At 274, he is denying a link between - - -  
 

PN4806 
MR FITZGERALD:   Yes, that is right.  But previously he had in fact conceded 
it.  So what I am saying is there is a changing of evidence. 
 



PN4807 
THE COMMISSIONER:   I misunderstood your submission. 
 

PN4808 
MR FITZGERALD:   I am sorry.  Yes, well, it may not have been clear there.  I 
thank you for picking it up Commissioner.  But certainly there was previously an 
admission that that occurred and then he goes on to deny it.  So that is again at 
303 as well where he is - he doesn't - he is still not prepared to concede the link 
between the two.  At 306, the response by Mr Best is at best confusing to the 
point of being meaningless.  At 330, again Mr - this is their reference to CMT.  I 
again submit that his knowledge of CMT is unreliable. 
 

PN4809 
At 338, he says that he didn't know where the members from CMT went to.  I 
find that absolutely incredulous.  Clearly, being involved in that site he would 
know where his past members went to and wouldn't just let the matter drop.  So it 
is pretty indicative that that is the pattern of Mr - the evidence of - that is the 
pattern of Mr Best's evidence.  It is old.  He has not had an involvement with the 
union.  And his memory clearly is failing.  And he conveniently remembers bits 
which - well, it may assist the CFMEU cases but under cross-examination 
concedes something different. 
 

PN4810 
At 375, he concedes that Comalco and the other sites is not a mine site.  The 
same, I would submit, would be that Temco is in the same boat.  The same with 
Pasminco Hobart.  His statements at 412 are best - on union membership - are 
best anecdotal.  The same with 416.  It is simply speculative.  And that is again a 
pattern of - the consistent pattern of the evidence of all three witnesses that it is 
just pure speculation.  There is no hard evidence.  And that was tested under 
cross-examination of all three witnesses as to what evidence they had.  And I will 
go further to these points as to these statements the three witnesses make about 
the industry.  And they make this on some speculation after talking to a number 
of employees, or some employees.  But there is simply - because of their lack of 
involvement in the industry they are not in a position to be able to gain that first-
hand knowledge. 
 

PN4811 
At 427, he concedes he has no knowledge of members.  At 489, he concedes that 
competition was destructive.  And at 620, he concedes that the relationship 
between Mr Grey and the AWU is far from perfect.  And I think that is a matter 
of history about, you know, the extent of competition and disruption, including 
physical disruption, at the sites.  And what the CFMEU are asking us to say is 
that they - we forget all that history and say that they can now peacefully co-exist.  
Regrettably, the AWU - and it is for them to make submissions on this - don't 
agree with that.  We have heard evidence that there was an altercation between 
Mr Hinds and Mr Wakefield about this at the AWU deck - if I can call it that.  
And included just by the nature of the - - -  
 

PN4812 
MR FLANAGAN:   AMWU deck. 
 



PN4813 
THE COMMISSIONER:   I was going to say, I thought it was the AMWU deck? 
 

PN4814 
MR FLANAGAN:   Yes, it was, yes. 
 

PN4815 
MR FITZGERALD:   AMWU? 
 

PN4816 
MR FLANAGAN:   That is right. 
 

PN4817 
MR FITZGERALD:   Didn't I say that? 
 

PN4818 
THE COMMISSIONER:   AWU. 
 

PN4819 
MR FITZGERALD:   I meant to say AMWU.  I am sorry.  AMWU deck. 
 

PN4820 
THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't think this decision will turn on where the deck 
was. 
 

PN4821 
MR FITZGERALD:   No, I am sure it won't.  I am sure it won't.  But there was 
clear evidence that there is a disagreement.  I mean, by the fact that the AWU 
have taken this matter on so strongly and put their own enormous amount of 
resources to it indicates that they are not willing to sit down and peacefully co-
exist with the CFMEU.  Now, in terms of Mr McLean's evidence at 740, he 
concedes that the coal sector is not the metalliferous sector.  They are quite 
different.  And to somehow bump up membership based on members in the coal 
sector traditionally in Australia - and we saw the evidence of Mr Knott - that the 
sectors are treated quite differently.  And we would concede for better or for 
worse that the CFMEU have that membership nationally in the coal sector. 
 

PN4822 
At 749, Mr McLean acknowledges an ongoing dispute, but that is not really so in 
our view.  Our submission is that DP Moore clearly demarked the industry.  The 
CFMEU have generally complied but there is now clear evidence that that 
position has changed.  At point 760, Mr McLean says that the demarcation order 
was to stop recruitment in the area.  Where Mr Best says that he continued to 
recruit.  And Mr Hinds says that he continued to recruit, albeit non-financial 
members - if I can call them that. 
 

PN4823 
At 793, Mr McLean's explanation of Mr Caldwell withdrawing from the 
Rosebery award is no better than Mr Best's.  It is a futile attempt to somehow 
justify - based on the fact that they - he mightn't have had knowledge - whatever.  
The fact is the CFMEU with their properly authorised officer withdrew from the 
award.  And Mr McLean saying with, you know, rather futile ways trying to say 
that it was in some way connected with the construction division, and that simply 



is not borne out by the documentation which has been produced to the 
Commission. 
 

PN4824 
At 822, I think Mr McLean - at least his evidence, I think, was honest.  He said 
that he was decent enough to concede that he was - that the membership stayed 
with the AWU.  But that again is contradictory to the evidence which I have taken 
you to with Mr Best.  At 836 - and I will slow down a bit, if I could - he concedes 
that his union has effectively vacated the field and left it to the AWU.  At 850, Mr 
McLean concedes that the Temco award covers the entirety of the operational 
work force.  And at 860, he cannot show any enterprise award.  And this is a 
matter for the record anyway.  So did Mr Bukarica not put anything to contradict 
this, that enterprise awards apply.  He can't show where enterprise awards only 
apply to part of an enterprise. 
 

PN4825 
At 880 - and this is where we have some concern and where Mr McLean starts to 
waiver - there is on the one hand the acknowledgment that the 118A order was to 
demark the industry in favour of the AWU, but then talks about the perceptions in 
the industry of the AWU not doing their job, which then presents an opportunity 
for the CFMEU to take up that - do you want me to wait?  Probably not because it 
is - I am happy to stop. 
 

PN4826 
MR FLANAGAN:   Could we just adjourn for Mr Hinds?  He should be present. 
 

PN4827 
MR FITZGERALD:   I am happy to take directions from the Commission there. 
 

PN4828 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, as Mr Hinds was leaving, he gave me the 
indication to continue, so - - -  
 

PN4829 
MR FITZGERALD:   Did he?  Okay.  Thank you.  So, you know,  this evidence 
on the one hand is quite contradictory.  On one hand, we have evidence of 
compliance - of partial compliance - of acknowledgment that the 118A was 
intended to demark the industry, but on the other hand, we have this evidence 
from Mr Best and others that if employees approach them, that they should take 
them on.  And there is also evidence about the - if there is a perception out there 
held by the CFMEU whether it is generally held or simply speculation that the 
AWU aren't doing their job in the industry.  And I would have to say, I wish that 
sometimes the AWU didn't do their job so well.  We have seen the evidence of 
Mr Wakefield and Co.  But they have in my submission, the AWU have - to coin 
a colloquial phrase - been hard at the ball. 
 

PN4830 
And that has created work for my organisation and for our members and there is 
no question about that.  It hasn't been an easy ride for us.  I think Mr Flanagan 
will be pleased for me to concede that, but certainly that doesn't mean to say that 
our members won't continue to use whatever is available to them to progress their 
business.  The same evidence at point 886 is about this - is this perception about 



membership dropping off.  I mean, there has been no evidence to indicate that.  In 
fact, the evidence of the AWU is that membership is strong. 
 

PN4831 
We have seen - and again indicating total lack of knowledge by the union 
witnesses - where some of the sites for better or for worse have been converted 
from a non-union to a union site and that has occurred with the changeover of 
contractors in the industry, etcetera.  So the CFMEU really haven't got a clue 
what is going on in the industry.  Mr McLean has got it wrong in terms of right of 
entry.  The Act clearly states - the Federal Act clearly states that the right of entry 
is underpinned by an award.  An award which binds the parties. 
 

PN4832 
MR HINDS:   I apologise for that. 
 

PN4833 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Hinds, just for clarity, I interpreted your signal as 
you left for us to continue.  Is that right? 
 

PN4834 
MR HINDS:   Yes, I was gagging. 
 

PN4835 
THE COMMISSIONER:   That is all right.  I understand.  Sorry, Mr FitzGerald. 
 

PN4836 
MR FITZGERALD:   No, that is fine.  No, I appreciate that.  I just didn't want to 
proceed either, you know, Commissioner, just for the purpose of the record just in 
case.  Mr Bukarica has got the right to respond to these submissions. 
 

PN4837 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 

PN4838 
MR FITZGERALD:   So there is this mixed evidence.  On the one hand, 
compliance or partial compliance, but on the other hand, well, they are all fair 
game, we will sign them on.  Despite a provision within their rules which clearly 
indicates that they haven't got the constitutional capacity to do so.  At 900, there 
are no examples of anti-union strategies in Tasmania.  And we kept pressing this 
point.  They make these, you know, wild and outlandish statements about anti-
union strategies, about OH and S performance linked to non-union sites, and they 
have got absolutely nothing to back it up with. 
 

PN4839 
So that in my view casts a significant doubt over the total evidence of the three 
union witnesses.  At 900 and 914, Mr McLean can give no evidence of any anti-
union strategies.  And at 947, he eventually concedes that his statement can't be 
validated.  At 950, he concedes speculation or hearsay at best.  But he has no 
first-hand knowledge.  In respect to sham contractors at 962, again he can present 
no evidence as to these sham contractors.  Again, at 965, he acknowledges it was 
hearsay or speculative evidence. 
 



PN4840 
Now, out of the three witnesses, I would suggest that Mr McLean is the only one 
who has any degree of credibility, but clearly we can now show that the 
statements which he made and presented on oath to the Commission are at best 
speculative or based on hearsay.  At 967, again, no testing of the evidence.  At 
988 - and this is what I can't believe - Mr Hinds and Mr McLean work out of the 
same office.  We heard that there was no direct reporting relationship, but clearly 
there would be day-to-day contact.  And it is hard to imagine how the Secretary 
of the CFMEU - being Mr McLean - not having some knowledge, particularly of 
significant events such as the CFMEU rules case. 
 

PN4841 
My own organisation - I personally wasn't involved in the case but we had 
weekly updates because it had an implication in Tasmania.  And I suspect that is 
what happened with the CFMEU as well, but they weren't prepared to concede 
that in evidence.  At point 1000 - and I won't go too much longer - there is a 
contradiction about who the industry union was, and then he admits that the 
AWU is the appropriate industry union. 
 

PN4842 
And that is why Henty took their position on right of entry.  Henty believed - 
rightly in my view - that the AWU were the appropriate industry.  They were 
approached by the AWU and were prepared to deal with them on that basis.  
Henty refused right of entry to the CFMEU based on their view that the CFMEU 
were not the appropriate industry.  So what - we have used the word opportunistic 
and that is the best word to describe the CFMEUs action.  At point 1004, this 
whole evidence about peaceful co-existence is against the trend and the history. 
 

PN4843 
And with the - with clearly the CFMEU by this application - with the CFMEU 
rules application - with the CFMEU trying to get membership - although not 
probably membership of Beaconsfield Gold - clearly they are trying to overturn 
history, and this is part of - we are mixed up in at the moment.  At 1008, the 
CFMEU is clearly - it hasn't changed the CFMEUs desire to get back into the 
industry.  And industrial relations has a habit, Commissioner, as I am sure you 
would be aware, of repeating itself. 
 

PN4844 
Well, here is another example of it.  So what we do, Commissioner, if you find 
favour of proceeding with the CFMEU award is we undo all that good history, 
where clearly the Federal Commission has taken a particular line and the CFMEU 
have generally complied with it and now we change that position totally.  Which I 
believe will be - have deleterious impact to not only Henty but to the industry in 
this State and also nationally.  At 1014, Mr McLean's evidence was all about we 
can sort it out and it won't escalate into a major turf war.  Well, we have already 
got a major turf war.  I concede that it wasn't first-hand evidence but - and if 
necessary if the Commission is not satisfied of that, we can bring that forward. 
 

PN4845 
But clearly there is already an indication - and it is easy to imagine why that there 
is a turf war at Henty.  Although now of course the membership within the mill is 
effectively  signed up between the two unions.  And the mine - and it is 



effectively signed up by the AWU.  But that doesn't mean to say that there is 
going to be in the case of new starters and others that there is going to be 
competition for membership.  So realistically despite Mr McLean's best 
intentions, there is no way the two unions can sit down and realistically sort this 
out. 
 

PN4846 
They haven't been able to sort it out up until now.  If that was the case, there 
would have been some evidence of some discussions between the two unions and 
some sort of successful outcome where clearly there would be some delineation 
of membership.  That is certainly not the case.  The reverse is the case.  And that 
is at 1032, where clearly that hasn't happened.  And I believe it is also 1033 where 
there is already evidence of this infamous discussion between Mr Wakefield and 
Mr Hinds at the deck of the AMWU. 
 

PN4847 
At 1146, we have already seen evidence of turf wars at Pasminco.  And we saw, I 
think, Mr Wakefield give evidence of that at Temco also.  So to pretend that 
everything is going to be hunky dory in the future is just - it is contradictory to the 
history which has preceded it.  At 1193, Mr McLean, you know, passes the buck.  
He says you refer to Mr Hinds about this.  Clearly, with both secretaries working 
out of the same office there would have been communication. 
 

PN4848 
But, you know, it is an easy way for Mr McLean just to simply pass - hand pass it 
to Mr Hinds.  In any event, Mr Hinds didn't satisfactorily answer it.  And at 1277, 
Mr McLean concedes that Pasminco Hobart is not a mine, and those other sites.  
So that leaves the membership of the CFMEU in the industry at around about - 
respectively about 11 at Henty and a small number at ABM at Savage River.  
That is the totality of the membership.  And that is in my view not a significant - 
that is not a significant enough number for the CFMEU to have a representational 
role in this industry again. 
 

PN4849 
And finally the evidence of Mr Hinds - and I will just be as brief as I can because 
this is where I have some real concerns.  At 1310, we heard the evidence about 
Broken Hill. And I will just refer you to Mr Knott's evidence.  So clearly that is 
an anomaly within the CFMEU industrial landscape within the mining industry.  
Again - and I am not in any way attempting to demean Mr Hinds.  But as 
secretary of the union, you would say - and I would submit - that he would have a 
knowledge not only of his union's activity here, but also his union's activity 
elsewhere. 
 

PN4850 
But he can't - he can't even positively identify at 1312 whether Broken Hill is an 
underground or open pit mine.  At 3123, he admits that Temco is not a mine, so 
we have covered that before.  At 3146 - and this is where I ask the Commission to 
look behind the evidence - Mr Hinds says in respect to Beaconsfield that these 
were his friends, he grew up in Beaconsfield.  That his position as a security 
guard at Beaconsfield - contracted to Beaconsfield - had absolutely nothing to do 
with the membership which suddenly appeared at Beaconsfield. 
 



PN4851 
When I say membership, the purported membership.  Clearly, that is 
unbelievable.  The members numbers coincided - membership numbers there - or 
the purported membership - coincided with Mr Hinds' involvement at the site.  So 
again that puts - casts - a significant doubt over the whole of Mr Hinds' evidence.  
At 1366, Mr Hinds says they had members at Savage River and Beaconsfield, but 
there is no evidence that the CFMEU had done anything to service them.  Not a 
thing. 
 

PN4852 
At 1369, he acknowledges they have no right of entry at Savage River.  And at 
1374 - and again I am not trying to test his knowledge - but clearly Mr Hinds is 
wrong there.  The reason why they don't have rights of entry is because there is no 
Federal underpinning award to which the CFMEU are parties to, and therefore 
don't have rights of entry Federally both at Beaconsfield and Savage River. 
 

PN4853 
There was a concerning aspect of Mr Hinds evidence - and you will see it, I don't 
want to take you to it in every instance of it - but under cross-examination - under 
pressure - and I would suggest that Mr Hinds was suffering from that pressure - is 
that where he doesn't know or where he is making up an answer, he will use the 
words etcetera, etcetera, which has unfortunately been recently used in other 
circles.  But that is the nature of Mr Hinds' evidence.  Where he doesn't know, he 
will just simply fudge it off by using the words etcetera, etcetera. 
 

PN4854 
At 1386, he says he had discussions re right of entry at Savage, but at the same 
time he acknowledges that he had no rights of entry.  So again contradiction 
within his evidence.  At 1393, his legal advice in respect to Beaconsfield was to 
leave it alone.  But he has actively recruited or attempted to recruit.  So what is it?  
On one hand, Mr Hinds gives this evidence and then in the next breath, he 
contradicts himself.  The whole evidence regarding the Beaconsfield episode was 
totally unsatisfactory in my submission and misleading to the Commission. 
 

PN4855 
In my submission, it was very evasive and it took a lot to get out of Mr Hinds that 
they in fact weren't members.  Now, it could be if that is the case that employees 
at Henty are in the same boat.  I would just put it that there is a potential for that 
happening.  And the actual membership is not that.  We haven't seen the numbers 
nor the actual financial records to prove it.  But the impression that Mr Hinds was 
giving to the Commission and to myself was that he had members at Beaconsfield 
Gold and it took a lot to actually break that down.    The evidence at 1420 and 
1426 indicates that - and this is under constant cross-examination by me - is that 
these employees at Henty effectively recruited themselves, using Mr Hinds' 
terminology.  How does that happen in practice?  I submit again that is an 
incredulous answer.  Clearly, the reason why they were recruited was because the 
CFMEU opportunistically - arguably probably on the approach of one or two 
employees - used that as the means of expanding their membership to around 11. 
 

PN4856 
At 1447, there is evidence that despite them being members, for two years the 
AWU - sorry - the CFMEU sat on their hands, did nothing.  He tried to justify it 



by saying that he was strategising and building up a power base.  It is just - if you 
examine the evidence in full, Commissioner, it just doesn't ring true.  But the only 
conclusion you can draw from that is that the CFMEU were just totally 
opportunistic in the circumstances which were presented to them. 
 

PN4857 
What the CFMEU should have done - as we have heard from all witnesses of the 
AWU - is to say we have had these approaches, you know, clearly, the AWU are 
the appropriate union in the industry, we will give you the names and addresses 
for you to contact.  Just as Mr Lowe said and Mr Wakefield said he would do, 
they did and would do in the future if an employee contacted them in an area 
which was clearly the CFMEUs membership.   This point is further - the evidence 
is further reinforced at 1562 where again I just say that the evidence of Mr Hinds 
is totally unreliable and casts doubt on the veracity of his evidence generally. 
 

PN4858 
At 1577 and 1581, there is contradiction about the Beaconsfield matter.  The 
same at 1595.  At 1599, he said that in respect of Beaconsfield he spoke to all 
other unions except the AWU.  It begs the question, why did they do that?  
Clearly, the intention is - at Beaconsfield - the intention is to move in on the 
AWUs turf.  If it is not, then there would be clear, frank and open discussion with 
the AWU.  But they were prepared to talk to all other unions - being the CPU and 
the AMWU - but not the AWU. 
 

PN4859 
In respect to 1640, again Mr Hinds shows his lack of knowledge of these 
Commission's proceedings and the actual application when he said it was an error 
that the mining employees were not covered within the application.  Yet we have 
seen no application since the application has been made to amend that 
application.  So to discount it as an error is simply not logical.  His evidence at 
1648, 1650, and 1665, is again totally incredulous.  The issue about the structure 
of the lodge, it has no relevance to this company. 
 

PN4860 
I mean, they may have set up some internal structure but there was no 
consultation between lodge members - official consultation - between lodge 
members and the company, so it had no relevance whatsoever.  At 1669, there is 
evidence that the union complied with Moore's decision - with DP Moore's 
decision.  But at 1678, again the evidence is unsatisfactory.  At 1682, again an 
over-statement. 
 

PN4861 
He says there is an exodus of membership from the industry.  Again without any 
knowledge.  Just pure speculation.  Again at 1693, Mr Hinds is talking in 
speculative terms.  The reason being is he simply doesn't know the industry.  The 
reason he doesn't know the industry is because he hasn't had an involvement.  
And in respect to further evidence about the lodge at 1696, again I just say that 
that evidence is unreliable.  And at 1699, again he admits that there is hearsay, 
that is how he gets his evidence.  You know, talk to a couple of people in the pub 
or on the street.  He takes that as fact. 
 



PN4862 
At 1701 and 1703, I would say that this is where Mr Hinds' evidence hits a low 
point.  And I say that that is significant, given he is the current secretary for him 
to admit that his evidence is inaccurate, where it says, "So your opinion could be 
inaccurate?"  He says, "It could be."  So again, severe doubts about the credibility 
of Mr Hinds' evidence.  At 1714, again unsatisfactory evidence.  He says - and 
this is about the withdrawal from the mining - the interest from the mining award.  
Somewhat of a feeble excuse in my view, saying he didn't have the capacity. 
 

PN4863 
If he had an involvement, he had the capacity to influence others.  And this is 
where we get on to some of the aspects of most concern about Mr Hinds' 
evidence.  At 1747, he says that - sorry - yes, at 1747, this is the most telling 
evidence.  And I think the Commission should consider this evidence in its 
totality.  There is very much an after-guard attempt by Mr Hinds to extricate 
himself from this mess.  He clearly admits when I raised the issue about Mr 
Benson withdrawing from the mining award that that was mentioned here 
yesterday. 
 

PN4864 
Now, the only way I submit Commissioner - and Mr Hinds then attempted to say 
that there was some evidence - some e mails occurring between offices.  We have 
not seen any evidence of those.  The only conclusion - the only proper conclusion 
you can draw from that, Commissioner, is that Mr Hinds overnight had 
discussions with either Mr Best, Mr McLean, and Mr Bukarica, or all three.  And 
that goes against the practice of this Commission. 
 

PN4865 
Not only was he under oath and not permitted to talk to those other witnesses and 
to his advocate, but it does indicate the depth to which the CFMEU are prepared 
to go in their attempt to get into this industry.  So what other - I just pose the 
question - what other ruses and trickery will the CFMEU to continue their blind 
pursuit in this industry?  At 1758 - - -  
 

PN4866 
MR HINDS:   Point of order, Mr Commissioner.  Mr FitzGerald is making some 
damning statements especially with our learned counsel.  I just hope in the matter 
of normalcy that you will take these matters into account when you make your 
decision.  Because I will certainly be taking a look at the submission and the 
transcript on Mr FitzGerald's points that he is making. 
 

PN4867 
MR FITZGERALD:   Obviously, Mr Bukarica has got the right of reply.  But Mr 
Hinds doesn't have to go too far to look at the transcript.  It is there in front of 
him.  And undeniable in my submission.  And I will leave it at that 
Commissioner. 
 

PN4868 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I would ask Mr FitzGerald that you perhaps have 
some regard for the descriptive terms that you are using.  We are in submissions 
and I accept that submissions are different to evidence, but use of the term 



trickery I think is a little bit over the top.  And I am not aware that the evidence 
supports that.  I don't want to dwell on it. 
 

PN4869 
MR FITZGERALD:   No. 
 

PN4870 
THE COMMISSIONER:   But I think we need to move on. 
 

PN4871 
MR FITZGERALD:   Well, I will move on and if those submissions about future 
conduct don't find favour with the Commission, I am certainly prepared to 
withdraw those.  But I am not prepared, Commissioner, to withdraw my 
submissions in respect to the evidence which is before you.  And Mr Hinds can 
examine the transcript as much as he likes, but the clear, spontaneous answer by 
him was, "It was mentioned here yesterday."  Now, there is no getting away from 
that. 
 

PN4872 
How did he know that?  He must have spoken to one of the witnesses.  And I will 
simply leave it at that.  So Mr Hinds can make whatever he wants out of it.  As 
can Mr Bukarica but I won't go any further than that.  At 1758, again Mr Hinds in 
his attempt to dodge the question using the word etcetera, etcetera, doesn't answer 
it satisfactorily.  At 1765, explanation of Mr Benson's move was totally 
unsatisfactory. 
 

PN4873 
It is unbelievable and incredulous as is most of Mr Hinds' evidence, at 1773, that 
the Tasmanian secretary of the mining division has no knowledge - absolutely no 
knowledge - of his counterparts within the same union withdrawing from an 
award which Mr Hinds now says he wants to have some sort of interest in, or in 
terms of the industry given their involvement at Henty.  That is absolutely 
unbelievable.  And to try to cast it off by saying well, you know, he didn't have 
the authority, etcetera, is just not open for Mr Hinds to say that. 
 

PN4874 
At 179, I just ask you to take into account that the evidence is that for two years 
the CFMEU had a handful of members only and basically a dormant and inactive 
membership.  At 1800, again he doesn't answer the question, and I won't take it 
any further than that, but I would just ask you to examine the transcript there.  At 
1802, the evidence of the heated discussion between Mr Hinds and Wakefield.  
At 1810, a clear acknowledgment of a turf war.  At 1814, this cordial relationship, 
you know, the union - as Mr Bukarica said in his submission - the sky is not 
going to fall in if the CFMEU get a role in this award.  Clearly, this notion of a 
cordial relationship is absolute rubbish.  Historically, it cannot be supported. 
 

PN4875 
And for the moment in terms of these proceedings, in terms of significant 
proceedings which the AWU and the CFMEU have fought out at another forum 
in terms of rule changes, that is not evidence of a cordial relationship.  At 1849, 
again similar to Mr McLean, pure speculation on anti-union strategies.  Just 
haven't got a handle on the industry.  The reason being they haven't been 



involved.  But both - at 1852 - if Mr McLean and Mr Hinds are prepared to say 
this on oath based on speculation then again I would just say that their evidence 
must be considered by the Commission with a great degree of suspicion.  And I 
haven't got long to go, Commissioner, now. 
 

PN4876 
THE COMMISSIONER:   I was planning to have a short break at about a quarter 
to 11. 
 

PN4877 
MR FITZGERALD:   I will be finished by then.  Again at 1858 - you know, and 
it takes a bit to get it out of Mr Hinds in cross-examination - he agrees.  I ask the 
question how can you say that - how then do you say that they are anti-union if 
the AWU have a strong presence?  And he says, "I probably can't."  So again the 
Commission should discount that evidence.  Again at 1870, evidence of this 
answering by etcetera, etcetera. 
 

PN4878 
At 187 - now, there is a great deal of confusion about the impact of the section 
118A order and his attempts to recruit members in the industry.  And he says that 
when I put to him that Barminco are not one of the companies mentioned in the 
order but they were on site at Mt Lyell, he says, well, you know, I hadn't thought 
about that.  The thoughts are clearly that they are now fair game as well.  Building 
up a very clear picture of a turf war - a potential turf war - which is going to be an 
absolute disaster for the industry. 
 

PN4879 
Again at 2010 in respect to Cornwall, I don't have anything to do with them, but it 
is a bit strange that an organisation such as Cornwall which have been in 
operation for a number of years haven't - appears to be not effectively represented 
by the CFMEU in terms of having the underpinning enterprise agreement or 
similar instrument.  That is still in the making.  And that seems to me somewhat 
incredulous as well. 
 

PN4880 
And at 2014 - and I will finish at this point - again Mr Hinds  I think finally 
concedes - and I will just go to - that there is a potential for demarcation.  And I 
think that is really the nature.  What is the purpose of this application?  In 
summary, Commissioner, it is a means to an end and it can't be disguised in any 
other way.  The way the application has been made and in our view without 
proper consultation with members. There has been a handful of members he has 
consulted with but no evidence of proper consultation. 
 

PN4881 
For a limited number of employees in the mill only, it is simply a foot in the door 
- if I can call it that way.  And once - if the Commission feels inclined to grant the 
CFMEU application then they will not only use the foot in the door at Henty but 
they will use a toe hold in my submission for the rest of the industry. 
 

PN4882 
And clearly, Mr Hinds has acknowledged that, that even employees at Barminco 
are fair game.  Now, so we have two competing scenarios, Commissioner, in 



summary - in conclusion.  In my view, the evidence of the company and the 
AWU witnesses should be preferred over - and I think I have conclusively shown 
that the three witnesses - not only was there failing memory but in my view 
misleading the Commission.  And in my view what we have is an agreement 
which has been properly made before the Commission. 
 

PN4883 
Prima facie that agreement should be approved by the Commission.  It meets all 
the tests required by the Commission.  That should occur in the first instance.  
Then what that would mean then is that the CFMEU application then becomes an 
absolute nonsense.  Because effectively there is already - if you approve the 
agreement as I suggest you should do - effectively there is industrial regulation 
applying to the totality of the Henty workforce.  That being the case then it 
becomes unnecessary. 
 

PN4884 
Now, not only does it become unnecessary but it becomes potentially confusing 
not only from a legal perspective but also from a site perspective if the CFMEU 
award is also made.  So it is one or the other in my view, Commissioner.  And 
clearly the evidence clearly points to the Commission should favour the making 
of the AWU Henty agreement as against a misconceived - sorry - an ill-conceived 
application - that is the best way to describe it - which is a means to an end to 
assert the CFMEUs role in the industry.  If it pleases. 
 

PN4885 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr FitzGerald.  It will be a convenient 
opportunity to adjourn for a brief break.  We will resume at 11. 
 
 
SHORT ADJOURNMENT [10.43am] 
 
 
RESUMED [11.07am] 
 
 

PN4886 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Before you continue, Mr Flanagan.  After the 
proceedings concluded last week, I received correspondence from the CFMEU in 
response to my earlier question concerning the ACTU designation of principal 
and significant unions.  I propose to table that and actually give it an exhibit 
number.  It will become CFMEU9. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #CFMEU9 CORRESPONDENCE FROM CFMEU 
 
 

PN4887 
THE COMMISSIONER:   We have copies for the parties.  Yes, Mr Flanagan? 
 

PN4888 
MR FLANAGAN:   Thank you, Commissioner.  Commissioner, I would seek to 
tender some written submissions by the AWU. 



 
PN4889 

THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 

PN4890 
MR FLANAGAN:   If I can take you to the submission booklet - if I can call it 
that.  You will find that the first section is the submission of the union and the 
submissions are broken down into 11 parts and deal comprehensively with the 
union's position in relation to the two threshold issues that the AWU is addressing 
in the context of the application for an enterprise award. 
 

PN4891 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I should mark this.  Do you want to mark it as a 
bundle or separate tabs? 
 

PN4892 
MR FLANAGAN:   Yes, as a bundle would be appropriate, I would suggest. 
 

PN4893 
THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  So we will mark that as AWU4? 
 

PN4894 
MR FLANAGAN:   Thank you. 
 

PN4895 
THE COMMISSIONER:   That is a bundle of documents incorporating the ACT 
- sorry - the AWUs written submissions. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #AWU4 WHITE FOLDER WITH AWU SUBMISSIONS 
 
 

PN4896 
MR FLANAGAN:   Now, for the purpose of - well, the written submissions is 
not an approach the AWU would generally adopt, Commissioner.  But we are 
mindful of the fact that the current section 61 agreement expires in the middle of 
September and that is not too far away, so we have done this for the purposes of 
expedition. 
 

PN4897 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, it is appreciated. 
 

PN4898 
MR FLANAGAN:   If I can take you to some aspects of AWU4 and just explain 
what they are?  Behind the first blue tab - and I am sorry that the tabs haven't been 
marked, Commissioner, but time hasn't permitted that.  Within the body of Part 3, 
the legislative framework of the submissions, there is a section committed to the 
registration of the AWU and CFMEU and in that it refers to the certificate of - the 
form of the certificate being attached to the submissions.  That in fact is the form 
of the certificate which is issued to both the AWU and the CFMEU. 
 

PN4899 
And the significance we would submit is the very specific reference to the fact 
that it talks about the Commission determining an interest in awards and that we 



say is a fundamental part of the registration of organisations in the context of the 
Tasmanian legislative framework.  And you will see that in the submissions.  If I 
can take you to the first red tab?  What we have here is - the first page actually 
talks about Westlake Bulk Fertilisers in the top half.  That is quite irrelevant to 
these proceedings. 
 

PN4900 
But what is relevant are the following reports there which are reports which are 
held by the Tasmanian industrial registrar on matters initiated by the AWU 
against Australian Bulk Minerals during the period that Australian Bulk Minerals 
industrial relations was regulated in the State jurisdiction.  That in fact has not 
been the case for a number of years.  So you will see that they actually ran out in 
about the year 2000, which was the last notification. 
 

PN4901 
If I can take you to the next green tab?  Again, reports of the registrar regarding 
notifications initiated by the AWU against Barminco, and you will see that there 
are 17 records there.  If I could take you to the orange tab?  You will see that the 
reports deal with matters between the AWU and Copper Mines of Tasmania 
when it was registered in the State jurisdiction.  Well, that has now moved and 
has for about four years been in the Federal jurisdiction. 
 

PN4902 
If I can take you to the yellow tab?  You will see that that identifies reports of 
matters between the AWU and Henry, Walker, Elton, who once operated in this 
State and have not for a number of years.  Behind the second blue tab is a report 
of matters between the AWU and Henty Gold Mine dealing with various owners 
- if you like - of Henty from time to time. 
 

PN4903 
And if I can take you to the red tab, you will see that the reports for whatever 
reason in relation to Henty don't include probably the biggest set of arbitration the 
AWU had with Henty, so it is a bit of an anomalous position.  So we have simply 
included the decision behind that red tab between the AWU and Mr Butler.  It is 
not insignificant because if I can take you to paragraph 2 under the heading 
Reasons for Decision.  Do you have that Commissioner? 
 

PN4904 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 

PN4905 
MR FLANAGAN:   If I can take you to the third last line where Commissioner 
Shelley is outlining proceedings.  What she identifies is that there was 
underground inspection on 20 August 2001 and further hearing days in 
Queenstown on 20, 21, 22 August, 24 October, and 28 November, and 10 
December.  So in the context of resource allocations I would suggest that it is not 
dissimilar to the proceedings which are currently before you.  If I can take you to 
the next green tab?  That was an appeal lodged by the company against 
Commissioner Shelley's decision. 
 



PN4906 
And that is the - all that those reports and decisions demonstrate in the context of 
Henty is that the AWU has been active in representing the industrial interests of 
employees at that site despite the fact that a non-union agreement was in place.  
Behind the next orange tab is the reports that dispute advocations with the 
Rosebery mine formerly known as Pasminco now known as Zinifex.  The fact 
that there are 55 records there, I would suggest, does not mean that the employers 
at Rosebery are any worse than the rest of them.  But the fact goes back further to 
1987 - if I can put it that way.  No offence intended to present company. 
 

PN4907 
The next yellow tab is an extract of the Macquarie Dictionary. The union in its 
submissions have referred to some definitions, so I have included the extract 
source for that.  Now, the intention of attaching those reports from the industrial 
registrar is to illustrate - and it is by no means comprehensive, it is indicative only 
- that the AWU in an industrial sense has been aggressive in representing the 
interests of its members. 
 

PN4908 
Time has not permitted the AWU to similarly obtain a summary of the Federal 
proceedings which we have initiated on behalf of our members during the last 10 
years when there has been no presence of the CFMEU.  The second thing that I 
would like to take you to is in the actual submissions themselves, Commissioner, 
at page 6.  And if I can take you down to the bottom third of the page, it starts: 
 

PN4909 
 Even if all four criteria are met, the registrar is required by section 63(4)- 
 

PN4910 
and it then quotes the Act.  You will see that that quote refers to the expression by 
the registrar of the term conveniently belong.  I would simply seek to tender an 
extract and summary of the term conveniently belong, which was obtained from 
the Meat Research Manual of Industrial Law which is operated by CCH 
Australia.  Did I hand up one with a yellow tab on it, Commissioner? 
 

PN4911 
THE COMMISSIONER:   No. 
 

PN4912 
MR FLANAGAN:   It is okay.  Thank you.  The purpose of providing this 
document - I believe it should probably be marked, Commissioner. 
 

PN4913 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Okay.  We will mark that AWU5. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #AWU5 DOCUMENT RESEARCH MANUAL OF 
INDUSTRIAL LAW - DEFINITION OF "CONVENIENTLY BELONG" 
 
 

PN4914 
MR FLANAGAN:   Now, AWU5 is simply intended to provide the Commission 
with an understanding of how the expression conveniently belong has been 



interpreted at a Federal level and at State levels both historically and in current 
context.  Now, we would submit - and it appears actually on the first page of 
AWU5 under the heading History and Rationale at the bottom of that page.  It 
talks there about the object of the expression conveniently belong and refers to a 
decision between the Australian Ship and Wharf Workers Association v the 
WWF (1919) 13 CLR. 
 

PN4915 
And it notes that the object - and that is the object of the expression - is to avoid 
overlap of unions in the same area.  Competition between unions disastrous.  So I 
would simply tender that to supplement the written submissions.  Now, also 
contained within the evidence and the submissions is the proposition by the AWU 
that we have been industrially and politically vigorous in pursuing the industrial 
interests and other interests of employees in the metalliferous mining industry for 
many years and certainly in recent history. 
 

PN4916 
And just as a further illustration of the activity of the union in relation to coronial 
inquests and that forms part of the resolutions to this year's Labor Party 
conference by the AWU is some of the public relations campaigning the AWU 
has been pursuing in relation to that issue.  So I seek to tender some extracts from 
the Advocate newspaper. 
 

PN4917 
THE COMMISSIONER:   I will mark the document or the extract from the 
Advocate under the heading Widow Waits for Answers as AWU6. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #AWU6 NEWSPAPER ARTICLE WITH PICTURES "WIDOW 
WAITS FOR ANSWERS" 
 
 

PN4918 
THE COMMISSIONER:   And the second document which consists of an 
editorial of 5 June 2004, AWU7. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #AWU7 ADVOCATE NEWSPAPER ARTICLE RE 
CORONIAL INQUESTS, DATED 05/06/2004 
 
 

PN4919 
MR FLANAGAN:   If I can deal first with AWU7, Commissioner? 
 

PN4920 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 

PN4921 
MR FLANAGAN:   And take you to the third paragraph there.  It states: 
 



PN4922 
 It was reported in the Advocate on Saturday that Mr Bonney's widow, 

Caroline Bonney, is still seeking answers about the circumstances of her 
husband's death. 

 
PN4923 

AWU6 is in fact that article.  And you will see on the second page where the 
union has its own dedicated column under the heading Union to Push for Timely 
and Public Disclosure.  So it is simply to illustrate that we remain committed to 
vigorously pursuing the interests of employees in the metalliferous mining 
industry.  On the last occasion that the matter was before you, Commissioner, you 
raised a question about what standing the terms principal union and significant 
union has in the contemporary industrial relations environment. 
 

PN4924 
Following those proceedings last week, the Tasmanian branch have contacted the 
union's national office and the national office has provided the branch with the 
current view of the ACTU in relation to union recruitment strategies.  And I 
would seek to tender a copy of that.  Which like AWU2 in these proceedings can 
be obtained from a search of the ACTU website. 
 

PN4925 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, we will mark that AWU8.  AWU8 that is an 
extract - well, it is an ACTU document dealing with future strategies of the union 
and its reaching out to new members policy. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #AWU8 ACTU CONGRESS MELBOURNE 2003 FUTURE 
STRATEGIES 
 
 

PN4926 
MR FLANAGAN:   If I can take you, Commissioner, to the third page of that 
document?  I wanted to draw to the Commission's attention some aspects of the - 
I am sorry - before I do that I would seek to tender a copy of the ACTU national 
union directory.  Now, all that the - if I can take you within the directory - - -  
 

PN4927 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Just before you do that.  I will mark that AWU9.  That 
is the ACTU National Union Directory 2004. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #AWU9 ACTU NATIONAL UNION DIRECTORY 2004 
 
 

PN4928 
MR FLANAGAN:   Now, if I can take you in AWU9 to the second tab which is 
identified as Affiliates?  You will see that on the right-hand side at the top, the 
AWU is identified as an affiliate.  At page 33, the details of the AWU are to be 
found.  And if I can take you down to CFMEU, you will see that the details of the 
CFMEU appear at page 41.  Now, all I do is say that the handbook suggests at 
least prima facie if there is any dispute about it that both the AWU and CFMEU 



are affiliates of the ACTU.  So then going to page 3 of AWU8.  If I can take you 
to the heading Existing Areas of Organisation Coverage?  This is point 11 in the 
document on page 3, Commissioner. 
 

PN4929 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 

PN4930 
MR FLANAGAN:   The document states: 
 

PN4931 
 The ACTU and unions are opposed to destructive, competitive unionism 

and will maintain the respect for established areas of union membership 
and organisation. 

 
PN4932 

Then at point 14, the ACTU policy discusses conflict between unions and 
identifies a number of issues.  And the first one that is of relevance we would say 
is in paragraph B.  The views of the members I think is pretty clearly established 
that when it comes to membership at Henty the AWU has approximately 38 out 
of 40 underground miners.  It has four out of four emergency service officers.  Up 
until recently the evidence was that we had seven employees in the mill. 
 

PN4933 
I can inform you that I received a phone call from one of our members at Henty 
who advised me that he had enrolled a further two employees at Henty in the mill 
into the AWU.  So we now represent nine employees at Henty.  So when we talk 
about the views of the members, the overwhelming views of the members is that 
they are supportive of the agreement which is before you.  The registered 
agreement.  So that is an important consideration.  At subclause E, it says: 
 

PN4934 
 Whether an open process of recruitment was undertaken and whether there 

were attempts to undermine or prohibit effective organisations by unions 
with coverage rights. 

 
PN4935 

Now, what we would say is this has been a very open process and we will give 
you some submissions in relation to that if it is not already dealt with by my 
evidence in these proceedings.  It is an open and transparent process where all 
employees whether they were members of the union or not were fully consulted 
about the agreement which is before you.  And it was they that endorsed the 
agreement prior to the AWU being prepared to have it put to the Commission for 
approval.  Now, that is not to say that we hadn't filed the document.  We certainly 
had.  But it was not until such time as the employees gave it the thumbs up that 
we were prepared to say well, we now then put submissions to you in relation to 
that agreement. 
 

PN4936 
Then in G, it says the history of award and agreement coverage and the 
representation rights of other unions.  Well, we would submit quite frankly that 
the overwhelming weight of the evidence shows that a more legitimate 
representative of metalliferous mining industry workers in Tasmania is now and 



has historically been the AWU, with the exception of Savage River mines as it 
then was and a small number of specific occupations, in particular locomotive 
drivers and winders at a couple of the sites. 
 

PN4937 
But otherwise, the AWU has overwhelmingly been the representative of 
employees in this industry and in the context of non-trades persons, exclusively 
the representative of those persons for the last 10 years.  If I can take you then to 
the next page?  At point 18, the union growth strategy union member organisers.  
Point 18 says: 
 

PN4938 
 The key objective of policy in relation to non-union areas is to promote 

membership growth (non-union area generally means an area of work). 
 

PN4939 
Now, what we would say is that an area of work is the metalliferous mining 
industry.  It does go on to say: 
 

PN4940 
 Or workplace where the employees are not union members. 
 

PN4941 
But that needs to be considered in the context of the real circumstances of 
industrial representation of the metalliferous mining industry workers in 
Tasmania.  It needs to be understood in that context.  It can't be taken in a 
vacuum.  At point 20, it says: 
 

PN4942 
 A union growth strategy that involves the recruitment and organisation of 

employees outside the union's coverage may be supported by the ACTU in 
the following circumstances. 

 
PN4943 

And we would say that the attempt by the CFMEU to enrol people at the Henty 
gold mine is outside of their coverage.  Not just by reference to their 
constitutional rule, by reference to what as a matter of fact has been the practical 
situation of industrial representation for 10 years in this State.  So that is the 
context in which coverage should be considered.  It then goes on to identify a 
number of issues.  At point C under point 20: 
 

PN4944 
 The union with coverage is not organising in the area and there is not a 

competitive position between unions. 
 

PN4945 
I would suggest that that criteria would not be met in the circumstances of the 
matters before you.  D: 
 

PN4946 
 The union with coverage has no genuine timetable or strategy to organise 

in the area. 
 



PN4947 
I think the evidence is very clear that the AWU has specifically been targeting 
non-union arrangements in the metalliferous mining industry in Tasmania with a 
view to converting them to collective arrangements.  And that strategy goes back 
as far in the evidence of Mr Wakefield to 1996, when the AWU was prepared to 
sign up to a section 55 agreement in the terms of the previous section 61 in order 
to get inside the tent because the AWUs view was that you could be more 
effective inside the tent than outside the tent.  And in fact we say that history has 
proved that. 
 

PN4948 
You will recall that there was recently some industrial action at that site as part of 
enterprise bargaining under the Federal jurisdiction and those employees under 
the new agreement will receive the best wages outcomes that they have received 
since the mine re-opened.  Now, that could not have been achieved unless we had 
first got inside the tent.  So it is a legitimate strategy and it demonstrates the fact 
that the AWU together with the evidence in relation to Beaconsfield and the 
evidence in relation to the industry generally is that the AWU has been vigilant in 
organising the metalliferous mining industry.  In point E, it says: 
 

PN4949 
 The union proposing to recruit employees outside of their coverage can 

demonstrate a community of interest with the employees it proposes to 
recruit. 

 
PN4950 

There is no community of interest we would submit between the employees at 
Henty Gold that have joined the CFMEU and the other areas that the CFMEU in 
Tasmania represents.  There is simply no community at all.  So what we would 
say is even by applying the policy of the ACTU itself from the resolution of its 
congress known commonly as the workers' parliament, even if we applied that 
policy, the CFMEU could not satisfy the test in relation to its conduct at Henty. 
 

PN4951 
Now, the other issue which has emerged and it is dealt with in the submissions, 
and that is the reality that the AWU and the CFMEU cannot peacefully co-exist.  
And as a practical development, this situation where we have the CFMEU having 
recruited some employees at the mill, the AWU having recruited others, I am 
informed by the member that we spoke to - I spoke to yesterday - has actually led 
in a real sense to impact on the environment within the mill in the sense that there 
have now developed two camps.  The AWU camp and the CFMEU camp. 
 

PN4952 
And this is something which has developed before these issues have even been 
resolved.  So we would suggest that that does not auger well for the industrial 
relations within the mill at least and perhaps broader.  So what the AWU does, 
Commissioner, is in addition to those matters which I have just addressed, we rely 
on AWU4 in support of the proposition as detailed in our conclusions, which are 
to be found at page 35 of the submissions. 
 



PN4953 
In conclusion, the AWU submits that the Commission should answer the two 
threshold questions in these proceedings in the negative.  And that is the issue of 
whether an award should be made or whether or not the CFMEU could 
demonstrate an interest in any such award.  And the basis of that proposition is in 
support of that position the AWU submits having regard to these submissions - 
and these submissions, Commissioner, are based on evidence as well.  Having 
regard to these submissions that (a) the CFMEU have failed to satisfy the 
requirements of section 63(10)(c) in that they have failed to demonstrate that they 
satisfy the requirements of Placerdome 2 and in addition have failed to satisfy the 
requirements of Placerdome 3. 
 

PN4954 
(b) are not authorised and have no standing under the Act - and that is the 
Industrial Relations Act 1984 to make the application in matter T11513 of 2004.  
And therefore as a consequence of both (a) and (b) the Commission should 
dismiss the application.  So we will leave our submissions in relation to the award 
matter at that.  If I can then turn - - -  
 

PN4955 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Just so I understand that.  I haven't got the Act in front 
of me - well, I have, but I haven't looked it up.  Placerdome 2 from memory is the 
eligibility rule criteria.  Is that the one? 
 

PN4956 
MR FLANAGAN:   That is correct. 
 

PN4957 
THE COMMISSIONER:   And your position is that - - -  
 

PN4958 
MR FLANAGAN:   They have not satisfied the requirements, yes.  That is 
specifically dealt with in the submissions.  I think it is found at Part 10, 
commencing on page 32.  Yes, it is specifically dealt with on page 33 in the 
submissions. 
 

PN4959 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you. 
 

PN4960 
MR FLANAGAN:   If I can take the Commission then to the issue of the section 
55 agreement which is before you, but ask that to the extent the submissions are 
relevant - to the extent that submissions in relation to the award are relevant to the 
industrial agreement that they be relied upon by the Commission. 
 

PN4961 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I think that is a common position of all the 
parties. 
 

PN4962 
MR FLANAGAN:   Yes.  Now, I think the starting point, Commissioner, in 
relation to the agreement is the proposition by the CFMEU questioning the 
motivation of the AWU in registering an agreement.  And I think it can be found - 



this questioning by the CFMEU starts at paragraph number 4508 of the transcript.  
Where Mr Bukarica says: 
 

PN4963 
 Secondly that - 
 

PN4964 
and we put a particular flavour upon this next point which no doubt won't be 
accepted by either Henty Gold or the AWU.  But we don't resile from it, which is 
that: 
 

PN4965 
 The employee's acceptance of our union collective agreements has been 

sudden and corresponds very closely with the application of the CFMEU 
for an enterprise award. 

 
PN4966 

Down at paragraph number 4510, Mr Bukarica says: 
 

PN4967 
 I am not saying that particularly the amended agreement doesn't now 

address employees' concerns but I say the manner in which it has arisen, 
the timing, the whole context, notwithstanding specific denials just can't be 
avoided. 

 
PN4968 

And then further over at paragraph number 4516 in the third last line.  Mr 
Bukarica again: 
 

PN4969 
 But to say as some have said that there is no connection between this 

application ...(reads)... important public interest consideration in terms of 
the contending claims here. 

 
PN4970 

Now, Commissioner, the AWU categorically rejects that assertion and 
questioning of our motivation.  I think actually the answer to the issues raised 
there by Mr Bukarica are dealt with in his own submissions.  And I take the 
Commission to paragraph number 4473.  This is the transcript of 6 August 2004, 
Commissioner. 
 

PN4971 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 

PN4972 
MR FLANAGAN:   And it is paragraph number 4473. 
 

PN4973 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I have it. 
 

PN4974 
MR FLANAGAN:   If I can take you to the last word in the second sentence 
starting at we: 
 



PN4975 
 We also say the industrial.  The evidence reveals that the industrial strategy 

agreed upon ...(reads)... individual Commonwealth contracts question and 
was probably - 

 
PN4976 

and I put this as a submission because I don't think there is evidence going to it: 
 

PN4977 
 But clearly that has forced the hand of the CFMEU sooner than perhaps 

the union would have liked its membership position at the mine. 
 

PN4978 
Now, I think that therein lies the truth, Commissioner.  I think the evidence in 
these proceedings has demonstrated very clearly that had those common law 
contracts not have been issued, the likelihood is that the Henty gold mine would 
continue to be a non-union site in the context of not having union regulated 
arrangements.  Because what arose after that - and it was dealt with in the 
evidence of Mr Wakefield and the evidence of Mr Jones.  But it is also dealt with 
in the written submissions of the AWU in AWU4.  And if I can take you to that 
Commissioner?  This was not drafted specifically in the context of addressing this 
issue in the industrial agreement but it seems to me that it properly describes the 
situation.  What it says on page 27 in paragraph D.  Do you have that 
Commissioner? 
 

PN4979 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I do. 
 

PN4980 
MR FLANAGAN:    
 

PN4981 
 That the AWU have had a presence at the Henty gold mine since it 

commenced operations.  Despite right of entry issues in 2002, the AWU has 
established procedures for rights of entry and an official who regularly 
visits the site. 

 
PN4982 

And this is all the evidence in the hearing, Commissioner: 
 

PN4983 
 The AWU has represented individual employees at both a site level and in 

...(reads)... employment arrangements and did not therefore perceive a 
need for the union. 

 
PN4984 

And that is the evidence of both Mr Wakefield and Mr Jones: 
 

PN4985 
 The evidence is that the company issuing employees with individual 

...(reads)... of employment altered the employee's comfort zone. 
 



PN4986 
And then we have got speak to employees.  And that is because Mr Wakefield 
very clearly used the term speak to employees: 
 

PN4987 
 And that employees were no seeking representation from the union. 
 

PN4988 
And that is the relevant part, Commissioner, because I think what is clear is that 
in the context of the proceedings before you, the evidence shows that the issuing 
of the common law contract was the motivation for the CFMEU to file its 
application for an award and the motivation for the AWU to approach the 
company to seek a collective agreement.  And that is the truth of the matter, we 
would submit. 
 

PN4989 
Now, the evidence in relation to what happened thereafter was the evidence of Mr 
Daly.  And Mr Daly indicated that the AWU approached the company.  They 
considered the position.  They did an assessment.  And their assessment was that 
they had had a relationship already with the AWU at Osborne and that they were 
attracted to the proposition of having an underpinning regulation.  That was his 
evidence.  So the evidence of myself was that having been contacted by an 
underground member concerned about the matter, we believe the company was 
issuing AWAs. 
 

PN4990 
What I don't think is in my evidence but I will make the submission is that the 
AWU was very concerned that the issuing of an AWA would remove our right of 
entry and that was part of the issues that we were seeking to address by pursuing 
a collective agreement with the company.  Now, as it turns out we were wrong.  
They weren't AWAs.  They were common law contracts of employment.  But we 
were not aware of that at the time.  And in fact did not become aware of that until 
a common law contract turned up a couple of weeks later after the initial 
discussion with our member and by which time we had approached the company 
to have preliminary discussions about a section 55.  Now, the evidence shows that 
in fact following that approach by the union, agreement was reached in principle 
and it was subject to endorsement.  The evidence shows that following that in 
principle agreement, the AWU filed the agreement.  And we then proceeded to 
meet with employees.  Not some employees, all employees.  We provided all 
employees with a copy of the proposed agreement. 
 

PN4991 
We left the employees to consider the proposed agreement.  We went back a 
period of approximately two weeks later during the period 16 to 18 June and got 
the feedback from all employees, not just the members of the AWU.  We reduced 
those issues into a log of claims and we provided that log as it were to the 
company.  Now, the log of claims didn't seek to fundamentally alter the terms of 
the agreement.  What the log of claims did was seek to address some very specific 
concerns that the employees identified. 
 



PN4992 
The agreement which is before you under section 55 is essentially a reflection of 
the current terms and conditions of employment.  There is no dispute about that.  
That is what it is.  But there were aspects about how the agreement was expressed 
that the employees were not happy with.  And we will talk about those later.  But 
we identified them to the company and we circulated - well, I am sorry - we met 
with those employees and that is the evidence.  We then organised a meeting with 
the company. 
 

PN4993 
I think the evidence is at the time we were also consulting with employees at 
Barminco about their agreement.  So we were juggling between two sites.  So we 
met with the company on or about 25 June and present at that meeting were 
delegates representing all areas of the operation, including the mill.  Following 
those discussions, agreement was reached.  The document to reflect the terms of 
that agreement was then circulated to employees and a vote was held and that 
vote in each discrete section endorsed the agreement.  Now, the agreement which 
was endorsed by the employees is the document which is apparently before the 
Commission for consideration under matter number T11540 of 2004.  Now, that 
is a transparent process.  It is also a process not required under section 55.  If the 
AWUs principal purpose in seeking a section 55 agreement was to use it as a de 
facto demarcation instrument as suggested by Mr Bukarica, then we would not 
have gone through that process, I would suggest, Commissioner. 
 

PN4994 
It was open to the AWU if that was its only purpose to simply sign it, file it, and 
seek its approval.  So it was clearly open to the AWU.  But we did not do that.  
We value the union's credibility and we say we have it in the metalliferous mining 
industry, and we are not going to set about to achieve some sort of outcome 
which would exclude the CFMEU at the expense of our own constituency.  And 
our constituency is the metalliferous mining industry workers in this State.  So we 
would suggest that having regard for the evidence on the motivation of what 
actually caused this to happen, having regard to the process that we have followed 
that the assertions by the CFMEU at paragraph number 4508, 4510, 4516, 4517 - 
in particular, 4517, where it is expressed as a back door sort of arrangement - 
should be rejected by the Commission. 
 

PN4995 
And in addition what we would say in relation to that is that it seemed to be 
suggested by Mr Bukarica that this agreement in some way had been processed 
with undue haste.  It is a matter of public record, Commissioner, that the 
Barminco agreement was in fact processed in a shorter period of time than the 
Henty agreement.  And I don't think that there is any suggestion that the AWU 
entered into the Barminco agreement with a view to locking out the CFMEU.  It 
just so happens that the CFMEU had they contacted us about the situation at 
Henty, had established a presence, one which it ought not have established, and 
we both acted when the common law contracts were issued.  That is the reality. 
 

PN4996 
Now, in order to check the position with Barminco there is nothing more required 
than to examine the Commission's files.  An examination of the Commission's 
files will show that the AWU in fact sought an enterprise agreement with 



Barminco.  That in a very short period after some hearing of the application, the 
AWU actually filed a section 55 agreement with the Commission.  And some two 
to three weeks after that - and that is my recollection, it could have been four - the 
AWU sought the approval of the agreement with Barminco, but that agreement 
had terms amended to reflect the subsequent discussions that we had held with 
employees following the filing of the Barminco agreement. 
 

PN4997 
So that is all a matter of public record and simply reinforces the bona fides of the 
AWU.  And I think the other evidence which reinforces the bona fides of the 
AWU is the evidence about what the AWU has set out to do here.  We have set 
out to seek a collective agreement in the terms of the existing conditions of 
employment.  The same thing that we did at Copper Mines of Tasmania in 1996. 
 

PN4998 
Why have we done that?  We have done that because we believe that you can 
achieve more from being inside the tent than outside the tent.  And that is a matter 
of philosophy and we are entitled to adopt a strategy which we believe advances 
the interests of metalliferous mining workers in the State.  And that is what we 
have done.  So in the context of the CFMEU challenging the bona fides of the 
AWU in these proceedings, we would leave our submissions at that.  Now, 
Commissioner, if I can take you to the substance of the agreement which is before 
the Commission? 
 

PN4999 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I have that. 
 

PN5000 
MR FLANAGAN:   The section 55 agreement currently before you reflects 
significantly the terms of the existing section 61 agreement, but does have some 
changes.  The first change which occurs is at clause 8, Transfer of Business.  It 
simply identifies - do you have the agreement? 
 

PN5001 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I do. 
 

PN5002 
MR FLANAGAN:   Yes.  Simply identifies that if there is a transfer of ownership 
then the terms of this agreement will transmit.  It may be that the Act already 
deals with that but it is designed to provide some comfort.  In fact, there has been 
a change of ownership and in quite close proximity at this mine in recent times, 
so it is not an issue which is irrelevant for employees.  The second clause which is 
in here which is different to the previous arrangement is on page 5 under the 
heading Fair Treatment Process.  At clause 2E: 
 

PN5003 
 An employee may be represented by the union at any stage with the 

exception of stage A in this process. 
 

PN5004 
So the union now has a role.  In clause 10, there is a recognition by the company 
of the role of workplace representatives and I indicate that that clause in fact is 
identical to the same provision registered by the Barminco agreement.  At clause 



11, there is a provision for the training of delegates.  At clause 8, under the 
heading Redundancy, the personal counselling - I am sorry this is - - -  
 

PN5005 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Clause 8? 
 

PN5006 
MR FLANAGAN:   Clause - sorry, page 8. 
 

PN5007 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Page 8.  Yes, sorry. 
 

PN5008 
MR FLANAGAN:   No, you are right.  That was my error, Commissioner.  
Under the heading F, Other Benefits. 
 

PN5009 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 

PN5010 
MR FLANAGAN:   The value of personal counselling has been increased from 
$300 to $500 and the financial advice up to the value of $800.  It was previously 
$500.  And the employee assistance for the resumé remains at $200.  In addition 
on page 10, there is a remuneration and classification structure.  Now, this is a 
very significant aspect of the agreement which is before you.  Under the section 
61 agreement, all that it did was identify a single classification and base rate I 
think of about $13, from memory.  And in negotiations what we have said to the 
company is we want the remuneration structure to actually spell out to employees 
how it works. 
 

PN5011 
And initially in the first set of discussions that we had with the company, we had - 
and it is the document which was initially filed - talked about remuneration in 
terms of total cost of employment.  During the process of consultation and voting, 
etcetera that we went through in making this agreement, one of the issues that the 
employees identified was that they were not happy with the concept the total cost 
of employment.  That they considered it to be a misrepresentation and deceitful of 
their remuneration package. 
 

PN5012 
And in fact that was dealt with - I think it is CFMEU4.  You will find that within 
that there are a number of areas where the employees said we are not happy with 
this.  So instead of talking about total cost of employment, the agreement now 
talks in terms of gross wages.  Okay?  And that was at the behest and request of 
the employees.  The remuneration/classification 15 then attempts to outline the 
process of how the structure works.  But I think for the purpose of convenience, it 
is easier if I can provide the company [sic] with the briefing notes that were used 
by the company to explain to both the union and its delegates how the structure 
works, and just outline it by reference to that. 
 

PN5013 
THE COMMISSIONER:   I will mark that AWU10. 
 



 
EXHIBIT #AWU10 PLACERDOME ASIA PACIFIC REMUNERATION 
STRUCTURE 
 
 

PN5014 
MR FLANAGAN:   Now, you will see - if I can take you to page 2.  Well, no 
actually I won't.  I will take you to page 3.  The Placerdome job rating process is 
based on the Mercer job evaluation system.  And it talks about concepts such as 
expertise, judgment, and capability.  If I can take you to the next page?  You will 
see that what the structure effectively does is job size the work which is 
performed across the entire Placerdome Asia Pacific group.  And you will see on 
that next page that we have the operators graded at level 3, 4, and 5, and we then 
have the trades at 5, 6, and 7. 
 

PN5015 
The fundamental concept within this sort of remuneration strategy if you are not 
familiar with it Commissioner is that job sizing is about valuing the job in terms 
of the impact of that job on the final outcome of the organisation.  So the further 
up the bands you go, the more impact you have as an individual on the final 
outcome of the business.  And that is the sort of methodology which underpins 
these type of structures.  And the methodology which is currently in place at the 
Henty gold mine. 
 

PN5016 
If I can take you to the next page?  And because this is a corporate document, 
Commissioner, it actually talks in terms of total employment cost.  The next page 
you will see has some important parts on it.  You will see on the left-hand side, it 
talks about the market 75th percentile.  Now, what has occurred as we understand 
it, is the company have conducted a survey using Mercer internationally, 
nationally, and at a local level to determine the competitive rates of pay which are 
in the industry. 
 

PN5017 
From that survey, they have identified the highest amount which is paid and the 
lowest amount which is paid.  They have made a management decision to pitch 
their remuneration at what they call the 75th percentile band.  So it is the top 25 
per cent of remuneration levels if you like in the mining industry.  In addition to 
that, you will see on the third column from the left, they talk about a maximum 
and a minimum.  Do you see that, Commissioner? 
 

PN5018 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I do. 
 

PN5019 
MR FLANAGAN:   Yes.  So what happens is they have pitched it at the 75th 
percentile band, but because the system is based on the assessment of an 
individual's performance, it provides for a range of minus 15 to maximum 20 
within what they call a band.  And in fact it is the bands which are identified in 
the agreement which is before you.  Now, that is not to say that there will be 
people that will not be above the band because there will.  The history of this has 



been that this system has been introduced in recent years as a part of the 
Placerdome Asia Pacific group's HR policy. 
 

PN5020 
Prior to Placerdome being the owner, the owner was Orion Gold.  Orion Gold did 
not have this sort of remuneration strategy.  So in implementing this structure, 
Placerdome have acknowledged that because of that historical background where 
the strategy was not in place, there are in fact employees that will be above the 
band which is identified in the agreement.  And they will not be reduced and their 
earnings will not be reduced as a consequence of the implementation in the 
agreement of these bands. 
 

PN5021 
If I can take you to the next page?  I guess what that does is essentially explain to 
you in their terms what I have just summarised about the operation of the 
remuneration structure.  The next page talks about the comp per ratio I won't go 
into any detail of that, simply let you absorb it, Commissioner.  And then the next 
page talks about increases.  Now, you will see down the bottom of that slide, it 
says no increases are guaranteed. 
 

PN5022 
And that is because the system is based on the individual performance of a person 
as assessed by reference to certain criteria.  But to the extent that the slide talks 
about no guaranteed increases as the union was working through the process of 
consultation, what we identified was a number of employees who as a 
consequence of the implementation of this remuneration strategy in fact had not 
received a pay increase for two years.  Now, we believe that to be inequitable.  
We understand that the corporate HR has a policy that they apply across all of the 
sites and seek to obtain consistency.  But the union's view - and it was accepted 
by Placerdome - was that it was inequitable that employees should go for a 
number of years without a wages outcome as a consequence of the 
implementation of that strategy. 
 

PN5023 
So contained within clause 15 at subclause (a) is the requirement that there must 
be a minimum salary increase of $1000 on 1 January 2005 for people that have 
been without a pay increase for two years.  In addition at subclause (a), it requires 
the bands to increase annually in accordance with the Tasmanian State wage case.  
So if someone is sitting at the bottom of the band, next year if their performance 
doesn't lift them - that performance assessment doesn't lift them up - then the 
movement of the band upwards will lift them up. 
 

PN5024 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you. 
 

PN5025 
MR FLANAGAN:   So the remuneration classification structure is a significant 
part of the negotiations between the union.  Well, the union on behalf of 
employees and the company.  I think that another issue - and I think other than 
that Commissioner, the agreement essentially reflects the status quo.  So what we 
would say, Commissioner, is that the agreement has been subject to endorsement 



by the employees.  It has been a transparent process, which has led to the 
approval of the agreement. 
 

PN5026 
The agreement reflects the status quo as amended as I have detailed in my 
submissions.  It does not offend the requirements of the wage fixing principles 
because at this point in time there is no award, but we take some encouragement 
from Mr FitzGerald's earlier comments in that regard.  So therefore the no 
disadvantage test does not apply. 
 

PN5027 
But if one examines the range of wages outcomes, you will see that they are 
towards the higher end of wages outcomes in Tasmania's metalliferous mining 
industry.  So we would say that in addition to that it does not offend the public 
interest and there are some 45 employees that believe it should be registered.  So 
in those circumstances, the union submits that the Commission should approve 
the agreement.  If it pleases the Commission. 
 

PN5028 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Flanagan.  As foreshadowed last 
week, Mr Bukarica will be given an opportunity to respond or exercise his right 
of reply off the transcript.  I think he indicated that he would only require two or 
three days, so presumably that would be the end of next week or early the 
following week.  Mr Bukarica will copy in the parties on any response he wishes 
to make.  Mr Hinds are you in a position to forward to Mr Bukarica the exhibits 
that have been tabled today? 
 

PN5029 
MR HINDS:   Yes, Mr Commissioner. 
 
 

PN5030 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  Thank you. 
 

PN5031 
MR FLANAGAN:   Commissioner, can I just add that to expedite the matter we 
have indicated to Mr Hinds that if we can get Mr Bukarica's email address, we 
will in fact forward the written submissions without the attachments by email to 
expedite it. 
 

PN5032 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Okay.  Yes, well, I will leave that between the 
parties.  I would like to commend the parties on the professional and 
comprehensive manner in which this matter has been addressed.  There is a 
wealth of material to go through as is plainly obvious.  It will receive my earliest 
attention and I am conscious of the desirability of having this matter settled prior 
to the expiry of the existing Part IVA agreement.  I will endeavour to meet that 
target.  On that basis, the Commission stands adjourned. 
 
 
ADJOURNED INDEFINITELY [12.12pm] 
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